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IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF NEVADA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 
 
 
 

SHAWN RUSSELL HARTE, 
 
                           Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
STATE OF NEVADA, 
 
                          Respondent. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CASE NO.   CR98-0074A 
 
DEPT. NO.   4 
 
 

 
SUPPLEMENTAL PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS 

(POST-CONVICTION) 

 
COMES NOW, Petitioner, SHAWN RUSSELL HARTE, by and through appointed counsel, 

CAROLYN “LINA” TANNER, Esq., and files his Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus 

(Post-Conviction) pursuant to NRS 34.750.  Petitioner incorporates his Petition for Writ of Habeas 

Corpus (Post-Conviction) originally filed May 5, 2017 by reference as though fully set forth herein.   

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

1.  On March 25, 1998, the State charged Petitioner Shawn Russell Harte (“Mr.  

Harte”), codefendant Latisha Babb, and codefendant Weston Sirex, with murder with the use of a 

deadly weapon, and robbery with the use of a firearm.  Indictment, March 25, 1998. 
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2. Each defendant faced the death penalty at trial.  Second Notice of Intent to Seek  

Death, August 20, 1998.    

3. Each defendant was convicted by a jury on both counts.  As to Mr. Harte, the  

jury recommended a sentence of death for the murder.  The codefendants each received a sentence of 

life without the possibility of parole.  The Court entered a judgment of conviction on May 7, 1999.   

4. In Harte v. State, 116 Nev. 1054, 13 P.3d 420 (2000), the Nevada Supreme Court  

affirmed the conviction and death sentence on his direct appeal.   

5. In McConnel v. State, 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606 (2004), the Nevada Supreme  

Court held that it is impermissible under the United States and Nevada Constitutions to base an 

aggravating circumstance in a capital prosecution on the felony upon which a felony murder is 

predicated.   

6. In State v. Harte, 124 Nev. 969, 194 P.3d 1263 (2008), the Nevada Supreme  

Court upheld this Court’s order granting Mr. Harte’s petition for writ of habeas corpus vacating Mr. 

Harte’s death penalty and ordering a new penalty phase trial.  The codefendants’ sentences remained 

unaffected.   

7. On January 26, 2015, a penalty phase hearing began, and the jury ultimately  

returned a penalty verdict of life without the possibility of parole.  Verdict of Penalty, February 2, 2015.  

The Court sentenced Mr. Harte for murder to a term of life without the possibility of parole, with credit 

for 6,293 days for time served, and a consecutive like term for the use of a deadly weapon.  The Court 

also sentenced Mr. Harte to a concurrent term of 72 to 180 months in prison for the robbery, and a like 

consecutive term for the use of a firearm.  Judgment of Conviction, February 2, 2015.   

8. In Harte v. State, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 40, 373 P.3d 98 (June 2, 2016), the Nevada  

Supreme Court upheld his conviction.   

9. On May 5, 2017, Mr. Harte filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus (post- 
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conviction) in this case.   

10. Mr. Harte incorporates the Appellant’s Opening Brief in Nevada Supreme Court  

Docket No. 67519, Exhibit 1 hereto, as if fully set forth herein.  

11. Mr. Harte incorporates the Appellant’s Reply Brief in Nevada Supreme Court  

Docket No. 67519, Exhibit 2 hereto, as if fully set forth herein.  

GROUNDS FOR RELIEF 

I.   Ground One:  Mr. Harte’s sentence is invalid under the federal constitutional guarantees  

of due process, and equal protection of the laws, the effective assistance of counsel, and a reliable 

sentence due to the ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to adequately to prepare his expert 

witness, Dr. Melissa Piasecki, properly.  U.S. Const. V, VI, VIII, & XIV.  

 Facts:  

1. Dr. Melissa Piasecki, M.D., a forensic psychiatrist, testified on behalf of Mr. Harte at the 

penalty hearing.  See e.g. Transcript of Proceedings, January 30, 2015, pp. 3 – 55.   

2. Dr. Piasecki had not reviewed and had limited knowledge of the evidence of a prior bad act 

felony shooting that occurred in Fallon, Nevada prior to Mr. Harte’s arrest on the charges in 

this case.  Id. at 35 – 36.  

3. Had penalty counsel prepared Dr. Piasecki fully by providing all relevant information for 

her review, it is reasonably probably that Mr. Harte would have received a sentence less than 

life without the possibility of parole.  

4.  If this Court should determine that counsel acted below the standard of reasonableness in 

this regard, as well as others alleged throughout, the prejudice may and should be adjudged 

from a “cumulative error” perspective. 

II. Ground Two:  

 Mr. Harte’s sentence is invalid under the federal constitutional guarantees of due process, equal 
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protection of the laws, and a reliable, individualized sentence because of the district court’s allowance 

of evidence of the codefendants’ sentences imposed sixteen years prior to his penalty phase trial, and 

the appellate court’s affirmance of this decision.  U.S. Const. V, VI, VIII, & XIV. 

 Ground Two (A):  The district court.   

 Facts:  

1. When Mr. Harte was originally charged and tried on the offense of felony murder, he and 

the two codefendants each faced the death penalty.   At the time of trial, the court empaneled 

a death penalty certified jury.  Their penalty phase hearings were not bifurcated, and thus 

Mr. Harte was not allowed an individualized sentencing at that time.  The same jury was 

allowed to compare and contrast the defendants in imposing penalties.  

2.  It is this jury panel that originally sentenced Mr. Harte to death, and then comparatively 

sentenced the codefendants to life without the possibility of parole.  Just as Mr. Harte’s 

death penalty was unconstitutional, the imposition of the sentences of the codefendants is in 

a sense analogous to the theory of “fruit of the poisonous tree.”  See eg. Cf. Shoels v. State, 

114 Nev. 981, 992, 966 P.2d 742 (1998) (Springer, J. dissenting) (a “death qualified” jury 

increases the “likelihood that the jury will return, by way of compromise, the next most 

severe verdict, life without the possibility of parole.”) 

3. Years later, in McConnell v. State, supra, the Nevada Supreme Court found that the 

prosecution’s use of the felony upon which the felony murder charged is predicated as the 

only aggravator in a capital prosecution is unconstitutional.   

4. Thus, the use of a death penalty certified jury at Mr. Harte’s trial was constitutionally infirm.    

5. Accordingly, the Nevada Supreme Court determined that Mr. Harte’s crime was not one 

appropriate for the death penalty, and he was granted a new penalty phase trial.  The 

codefendants were not given a second penalty phase hearing. 

0910



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

5 

 

6. At his penalty phase trial, the district court allowed the jury to learn of the sentences 

imposed by the inappropriately death qualified panel upon his co-defendants sixteen years 

earlier.  This ruling denied Mr. Harte his right to an individualized sentencing proceeding.   

7. Moreover, the jurors were allowed to compare only the sentences imposed upon the 

codefendants.  They were not allowed to compare the codefendants as individuals at the time 

they passed judgment upon Mr. Harte in 2015.   The jury was only afforded a snapshot in 

time in 1999 to compare the three defendants.  

8. “The Eighth Amendment requires that defendants be sentenced individually, taking into 

account the individual, as well as the charged crime.”  Martinez v. State, 114 Nev. 735, 737, 

961 P.2d 143, 145.   

9. There is “no rule of law that requires a court to sentence codefendants to identical terms.”  

Nobles v. Warden, 106 Nev. 67, 68, 787 P.2d 390, 391 (1990).   

10. The issue of the use of a codefendant’s sentence at a penalty phase is hardly settled.  In 

Justice Rose’s concurring opinion in Flanagan v. State, 107 Nev. 243, 250, 810 P.2d 759, 

763 (1992), he noted that a “majority of courts that have considered the issue have 

determined that the sentence imposed on a codefendant is not admissible at a murder penalty 

hearing of the defendant.”  In California, courts have consistently held that evidence of a 

codefendant’s sentence is irrelevant at the penalty phase because “it does not shed any light 

on the circumstances of the offense or the defendant’s character, background, history or 

mental condition.” People v. Cain, 892 P.2d 1224 (Cal. 4th 1995).   

11. The district court allowed the evidence of the codefendants’ sentences in this case based 

upon NRS 175.552(3), which allows a court to admit evidence it “deems relevant to the 

sentence.”  In so ruling, the district court noted that the State argued that the sentences were 

relevant “because all three defendants were invested in the criminal enterprise, but it was 
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Harte who actually shot the victim…Circumstances of the offense for which Harte has been 

convicted involve unequal participation between the co-defendants and Harte. Thus, the 

sentences of the unequally culpable co-defendants are relevant, proper and helpful for the 

jury in considering the circumstances of the offense for which Harte has been convicted.” 

Order Granting Motion in Limine to Admit Evidence of Codefendants’ Sentences During 

Penalty Phase & Denying Defendant’s Motion in Limine entered January 21, 2015 at 4.    

12. The district court’s rationale to admit this evidence ignored the fact that the prosecution had 

presented evidence during the penalty phase trial indicating that Mr. Harte was the shooter.  

Nothing prevented the prosecution from comparing and contrasting the behavior of the 

codefendants to that of Mr. Harte.  But the allowance of the evidence of the codefendants’ 

sentences of life without the possibility of parole imposed by an improperly empaneled 

death qualified jury all but guaranteed the resulting sentence. Evidence of the codefendants’ 

sentences failed to shed any light on the circumstances of the offense or the defendant’s 

character, background, history or mental condition. It was only prejudicial.  

13. At Mr. Harte’s second penalty hearing in 2015, only the codefendants’ sentences were used 

to compare and contrast against Mr. Harte.  The penalty hearing was seventeen years after 

the crime was committed.  It was sixteen years after the first penalty phase jury heard 

mitigating and aggravating evidence about each of the defendants.  At Mr. Harte’s second 

penalty hearing, the jury was not asked to compare and contrast the codefendants as they 

stood on that day years later, rather only by the sentence they received.  It was not a fair 

comparison.  It was a snapshot in time.   

14.  By failing to raise and preserve this issue properly, Mr. Harte was deprived of effective 

assistance of counsel, both at trial and on direct appeal.   

15. If this Court should determine that counsel acted below the standard of reasonable 
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effectiveness in this regard, as well as others alleged throughout, then prejudice may and 

should be adjudged from a “cumulative error” perspective.   

Ground Two (B):  The appellate court decision.   

1. On appeal of his conviction, appellate counsel states in a footnote in Mr. Harte’s opening 

brief, “One wonders (but not for long) what position the State would have had taken had Mr. 

Harte’s co-defendants received sentences of life with the possibility of parole that Mr. Harte 

wished to present to his penalty jury.”  See Exhibit 1.   One need not wonder.   

2. In 2015, the year of Mr. Harte’s penalty phase retrial and appeal of his conviction, this very 

issue was litigated in Department 6 of the Second Judicial District Court in the case of State 

v. Rodriguez, CR98-1033B.  In that case, Mr. Rodriguez was granted a new penalty hearing 

in a capital case after he successfully challenged his sentence in a post-conviction writ of 

habeas corpus.  Mr. Rodriguez had received a sentence of death in 1998, and his co-

defendants received lesser sentences.  At his penalty retrial in which he still faced a death 

penalty, Mr. Rodriguez sought to introduce evidence of these lesser sentences in mitigation.  

The district court denied this motion.  Mr. Rodriguez was again sentenced to death.   

3. In an unpublished opinion of his appeal, the Court, in a four to three decision affirming the 

district court, stated, “We recognize, as Rodriguez points out, that some jurisdictions 

consider a codefendant’s sentence relevant to a jury’s sentencing decision… However, there 

is no mandatory authority requiring the admission of such evidence, and we have reiterated 

the importance of individualized sentencing that takes into account a defendant’s character, 

record, and the circumstances of the offense.”  2015 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1056 at 4 (Docket 

No. 63423, September 11, 2015) (emphasis added).  See Exhibit 3.  

4. In Rodriguez v. State, Justice Hardesty, with Justices Parraguirre, Douglas, and Gibbons, 

included the majority opinion.  Justice Pickering dissented, joined by Justices Cherry and 
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Saitta.  Id. at 1.   

5. In Harte v. State, Justice Cherry presented the majority opinion with Justice Douglas.  

Justice Gibbons concurred in part, and dissented in part.  Specifically, Justice Gibbons 

stated:  

 
However, I would revisit this court’s holding in Flanagan v. State, 107 Nev. 243, 
247-48, 810 P.2d 759, 762 (1991), regarding the admission of sentences of 
codefendants in the penalty phase of a first-degree murder hearing.  I agree with 
appellant that there should be a uniform rule for the district courts on this issue 
for all penalty hearings.  Therefore, I would preclude allowing evidence of the 
codefendants’ sentences. 
 

Harte v. State, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 40 at 9 (June 2, 2016), 373 P.3d 98, 102. 

6.  While Rodiguez is not a case that can be taken for precedent, it is clear that in the year 2015 

to 2016, the Court both affirmed a district court’s denial of the use of codefendant sentences  

in mitigation based upon the importance of individualized sentencing”, and then affirmed a 

district court ruling allowing co-defendant sentences to be used against a defendant based 

upon judicial discretion.  Rodriguez was an en banc decision, and Harte was determined by 

a panel.   

7. This supports Mr. Harte’s appellate counsel’s prediction that allowing this evidence to rest 

solely on the trial court’s discretion, “is simply shorthand for the proposition that such 

evidence will always be admissible when offered by the State against a defendant, but 

inadmissible when offered by the defendant in support of a lesser sentence.”  Exhibit 2 at 3.   

Given the fact that a defendant has a constitutional right to individualized sentencing, these 

two rulings cannot be harmonized.   

Ground Three:  Mr. Harte’s sentence of life without the possibility of parole is invalid under the  

federal constitutional guarantees of due process, equal protection, and a reliable sentence because it 

constitutes cruel and unusual punishment.  U.S. Const. VIII & XIV.   
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Facts: 

1. The Eighth Amendment guarantees against cruel and unusual punishment and prohibits 

punishment which is inconsistent with the evolving standards of decency that mark the 

progress of a maturing society.   

2. The sentence at issue is not the sentence of death that Mr. Harte received in 1999 when he 

was a very young man, but rather the sentence of life without the possibility of parole he 

received sixteen years later, as an evolved, well mannered prisoner whose personal 

experiences were vastly improved.   

3. In Naovarath v. State, 105 Nev. 525, 779 P.2d 944 (1989), the Court struggled with the 

sentence of death imposed on a thirteen-year-old boy.  However, regardless of the age of the 

defendant in that case, the Court made a significant statement about a sentence of life without 

the possibility of parole in general.   

Before proceeding we pause first to contemplate the meaning of a sentence 
"without possibility of parole," especially as it bears upon a seventh grader. All 
but the deadliest and most unsalvageable of prisoners have the right to appear 
before the board of parole to try and show that they have behaved well in prison 
confines and that their moral and spiritual betterment merits consideration of 
some adjustment of their sentences. Denial of this vital opportunity means denial 
of hope; it means that good behavior and character improvement are immaterial; 
it means that whatever the future might hold in store for the mind and spirit of 
Khamsone Kham Naovarath, he will remain in prison for the rest of his days.  

 
105 Nev. At 526 (emphasis added).  The Court did not only speak to the imposition of such a 

sentence on a child, but on all but the deadliest and most unsalvageable of prisoners.   

4. The appellate court in Harte v. State found that the evidence of Mr. Harte’s change of 

character between his first sentencing and his second nearly two decades later was “out of 

place in this proceeding.”  132 Nev. Adv. Op. 40 at 8. This finding is offensive under the 

Eighth Amendment in the contexts of cruel and unusual punishment as well as to a 

defendant’s right to individualized sentencing.  See Ground 2, supra.  If a defendant cannot 
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present current and relevant evidence of his character and record before the jury that is tasked 

with imposing sentence upon him, then, when can he?   

5. Over significant evidence that Mr. Harte at thirty-seven years old was not a most deadly and 

unsalvageable prisoner, he was sentenced comparatively to his then-younger codefendants 

without evidence of their own adjustments in prison.  If a prisoner, facing the death penalty 

without hope, who nevertheless behaves himself well in prison confines, and significantly 

improves his moral and spiritual character, is nevertheless condemned to die behind bars, then 

who should be afforded a sentence of life with the possibility of parole?  The prison system 

afforded him the opportunity to improve himself, and he took it and thrived.  

6. The evidence of the codefendants’ sentences from 1999 diluted or even annihilated the 

evidence of Mr. Harte’s character in 2015 and today, which lead to the imposition of a 

sentence that is thus cruel and unusual.   

7. Mr. Harte recognizes that “so long as the record does not demonstrate prejudice resulting 

from consideration of information or accusations founded on facts supported only by 

impalpable or highly suspect evidence, this court will refrain from interfering with the 

sentence imposed.”  Mason v. State, 118 Nev. 554, 562, 51 P.3d 521, 526 (2002).  The 

evidence of his codefendants’ sentences was impalpable evidence in his second penalty 

hearing.  It was not a complete picture of codefendants as they were in 2015.  It was a 

snapshot in time of who they were and their role in 1998. The use of such evidence lacked any 

additional context from what the State could have argued simply based upon the evidence of 

the crime presented to the jury throughout the trial.  The only conclusion the jury could make 

based upon comparing the sentences is that Mr. Harte was indeed a most deadly and 

unsalvageable prisoner despite significant evidence to the contrary.  This lead to a resulting 

sentence that is cruel and unusual under the Eighth Amendment.  
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8. By failing to raise and preserve this issue properly, Mr. Harte was deprived of effective 

assistance of counsel, both at trial and on direct appeal.  

9. If this Court should determine that counsel acted below the standard of reasonableness in this 

regard, as well as others alleged throughout, the prejudice may and should be adjudged from a 

“cumulative error” perspective.   

Ground Four:  Mr. Harte’s sentence is invalid under the federal constitutional guarantees of due  

process, equal protection of the laws, trial before an impartial jury, and a reliable sentence because of 

the district court’s error in allowing the State to argue both first and last in closing arguments at his 

penalty hearing.  U.S. Const. V, VI, VIII, & XIV. 

Facts:  

1.  Without case law or statute on point, the district court allowed the State to present both an 

opening and concluding presentation during the closing arguments at Mr. Harte’s penalty 

hearing.   

2. The State and the defense each only had a burden of persuasion in this non-death penalty 

sentencing hearing.  NRS 175.552(4) which controls the penalty phase for non-death penalty 

first degree murder convictions does not allow for the State to have a concluding presentation 

in its closing argument.   

3. The error of allowing the State to present two arguments before the jury had a cumulative 

effect on the partiality of the jury and reliability of Mr. Harte’s sentence.   

Ground Five:  Mr. Harte’s sentence is invalid under the federal constitution guarantees of due  

process, equal protection, trial by jury, and a reliable sentence because of the trial court’s failure to 

instruct the jury properly during the penalty hearing.  U.S. Const. Amends. V, VIII, & XIV.  

Facts:   

1. The district court instructed the jury on the consideration of the sentences of the codefendants.  
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Instruction 15, February 2, 2015.  This instruction was insufficient to overcome the prejudice 

to Mr. Harte of allowing evidence of the codefendants’ sentences.   

2. The district court instructed the jury on their duty to be governed by the evidence and law as 

instructed “with the sole, fixed and steadfast purpose of doing equal and exact justice between 

the defendant and the State of Nevada.”  Instruction 19, February 2, 2015 (emphasis added).  

This instruction compounded the constitutional errors associated with the evidence of the 

codefendants’ sentences presented to the jury.  

3. While the Nevada Supreme Court has upheld the “equal and exact justice” instruction in a 

guilt phase proceeding, it has done so only in the context that the instruction does not 

invalidate the “presumption of innocence.”  See e.g. Leonard v. State, 114 Nev. 1196, 1209, 

969 P.2d 288 (1998); Thomas v. State, 120 Nev. 37, 46, 83 P.3d 818, 824 (2004).  That is not 

the case here.   

4. The failure to instruct the jury adequately regarding the highly prejudicial evidence of the 

codefendants’ sentences is prejudicial to Mr. Harte.  The State cannot show that the failure to 

instruct the jury adequately was harmless, and that failure had a substantial and injurious 

effect on the verdict.  Instruction 15 failed to instruct the jury that they had no obligation to 

sentence Mr. Harte to an equivalent sentence, nor does it instruct them that they are to 

consider Mr. Harte’s character, record, and circumstances of the offense.  A rational juror 

would have understood the language of imposing “equal and exact justice” under the 

circumstances of this case, coupled with the highly prejudicial evidence of the codefendants’ 

sentences, as directing a verdict of life without the possibility of parole.   

Ground Six:   Mr. Harte’s sentence is invalid under the federal constitutional guarantees of due  

process, equal protection, the effective assistance of counsel, a fair tribunal, an impartial jury, and a 

reliable sentence due to the cumulative errors resulting from gross misconduct of state officials and 
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witnesses and the deprivation of Mr. Harte’s right to the effective assistance of counsel.  U.S. Const. 

Amends. V, VIII, & XIV.  

Facts:  

1.  Each of the claims specified in this petition requires the vacation of Mr. Harte’s sentence.  

Mr. Harte incorporates each and every allegation contained in this supplemental petition as 

well as the original petition as if fully set forth herein.  

2. The cumulative effect of the errors set forth herein deprived these proceedings against Mr. 

Harte of fundamental fairness, resulting in a constitutionally unreliable sentence.  The totality 

of these multiple errors and omissions resulted in substantial prejudice to Mr. Harte.  

3. The State cannot show that the cumulative effect of the many constitutional errors in these 

proceedings was harmless.  These constitutional errors in total substantially and injuriously 

affected the fairness of the proceedings and prejudiced Mr. Harter.   

WHEREFORE, Shawn Russell Harte prays that the Court grant him relief to which he is entitled  

to in this proceeding.  

AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030 

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding document does not contain the Social 

Security Number of any person. 
 

DATED this 1st day of February, 2018.                                                                       

       By: /s/ Carolyn Tanner    
       CAROLYN “LlNA” TANNER, ESQ. 
       Attorney for Petitioner Alberto Torres 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
I hereby certify that I am an employee of the Tanner Law & Strategy Group, Reno, Washoe 

County, Nevada, and that on this date I forwarded a true copy of the foregoing document addressed to:  

 
Terrance McCarthy, CDA (via e-flex) 
Washoe County District Attorney’s Office 
 
Shawn Russell Harte 
Northern Nevada Correctional Facility (via hand-delivery) 
 
 
DATED this 1st day of February, 2018.  
 
 

By: /s/ Carolyn Tanner    
       CAROLYN “LlNA” TANNER, ESQ. 
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CODE No. 1130 
CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS 
#7747 
P. O.  Box 11130 
Reno, Nevada 89520-0027 
(775) 328-3200 
Attorney for Respondent 

 
 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 
* * * 

 
SHAWN RUSSELL HARTE, 
 
   Petitioner, 
  v.        Case No. CR98-0074a 

WARDEN ISIDRO BACA,       Dept. No.  4 

   Respondent. 

                                                                 /  

  
ANSWER TO PETITION AND SUPPLEMENTAL PETITION FOR  

WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) 
 
 COMES NOW, Respondent, by and through counsel, and answers the petition filed on 

or about May 5, 2017, and the supplemental petition filed on or about February 1, 2018, as 

follows: 

 1.  That Respondent admits all allegations contained in paragraphs 1-22 of the petition. 

 2.  That Respondent denies all allegations contained in paragraphs 23 and each 

allegation of material fact in the sections that follow paragraph 22 of the petition.  

3.   That Respondent admits the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 9 of the 

supplemental petition. 

/ / / 
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 4.  That Respondent denies each and every allegation of material fact following 

paragraph 9 of the supplemental petition. 

 5.  That your affiant is informed and does believe that all relevant pleadings and 

transcripts necessary to resolve the petition and supplemental petition are currently available, 

or could be made available. 

 6.  That Respondent is informed and does believe that Petitioner’s prior appeals are 

described in the supplemental petition filed on February 1, 2018. 

AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030 

 The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding document does not contain the 

social security number of any person. 

  DATED: Mar 19, 2018. 

 

       CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS 
       District Attorney 
 
       By /s/ TERRENCE P. McCARTHY  
                        TERRENCE P. McCARTHY 
            Chief Appellate Deputy 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
  
I hereby certify that this document was filed electronically with the Second Judicial District 

Court on March 19, 2018.  Electronic Service of the foregoing document shall be made in 

accordance with the Master Service List as follows:  

 Carolyn Tanner, Esq. 

 

                                  /s/ Margaret Ford 
                           MARGARET FORD 

 

 

 

 

 

0984



 

1 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

 

 

 

CODE No. 2300 
CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS 
#7747 
P. O.  Box 11130 
Reno, Nevada 89520-0027 
(775) 328-3200 
Attorney for Respondent 
 
 

 
 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 
 

* * * 

SHAWN RUSSELL HARTE, 
 
   Petitioner, 
  v.        Case No. CR98-0074A 

WARDEN ISIDRO BACA,       Dept. No. 4 

   Respondent. 
                                                                / 
 
  

MOTION TO DISMISS PETITION AND SUPPLEMENTAL PETITION 
 FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) 

 
 COMES NOW, the State of Nevada and moves this Honorable Court to dismiss 

the petition and supplemental petition for writ of habeas corpus. 

 This motion is predicated upon the records of this court and of the Supreme 

Court, and the following points and authorities. 

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

The somewhat tortured procedural history of this case is set out in the 

supplemental petition.  The upshot is that this is a timely petition for writ of habeas 

corpus in a case where petitioner Harte has been convicted of murder and robbery, each 

with a weapon, and sentenced to two terms of life without parole, plus additional years 

F I L E D
Electronically
CR98-0074A
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Clerk of the Court

Transaction # 6584203 : yviloria

0985



 

2 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

 

 

 

for the other crimes.  While the petition is not procedurally barred, it nevertheless 

should be dismissed because each claim in the petition and the supplement is fatally 

flawed. 

 Ground One of the petition asserts that counsel in the latest sentencing hearing 

failed to “adequately prepare” witness Piasecki.  That should be dismissed.  A claim of 

ineffective assistance of counsel required that the petitioner identify specific acts, 

omissions or decision that are alleged to fall below an “objective” standard of 

reasonableness.  The petition must also allege specific facts that tend to show a 

reasonable probability of a different outcome but for the failings of counsel.  Strickland 

v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2065 (1984).  The failure to 

“adequately” prepare a witness necessarily requires a subjective standard.  Thus, no 

hearing is warranted.  There are also no facts alleged showing that Dr. Piaseki would 

have altered her testimony based on the decisions of counsel.  Therefore, no hearing is 

warranted on Ground One. 

 Ground Two asserts error in the court allowing the jury to hear of the sentences 

of the co-defendants.  That decision was reviewed and affirmed in the last appeal.  Harte 

v. State, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 40, 373 P.3d 98 (2016)(court has discretion to allow or to not 

allow the evidence).  Therefore that claim is barred by the doctrine of the “law of the 

case.”  Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 535 P.2d 797 (1975).   

 Ground Three seems to be an assertion that the sentence was excessive.  That is 

also barred by the law of the case as it was reviewed on the last appeal.   

 Ground Four concerns the order in which the parties argued.  That was reviewed 

in the last appeal and the court found that the decision of this court was not incorrect.  

Therefore, the claim is barred by the law of the case. 
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 The supplement, at Ground One, repeats the claim about Dr. Piaseki but adds 

nothing that would warrant a hearing.   

Ground Two of the supplement repeats the claim about the sentences of the co-

defendants.  It is still barred by the law of the case.  The suggestion that this court 

should overrule the Supreme Court ought to be rejected as this court lacks appellate 

authority over the Supreme Court of Nevada.  

Ground Two also has an argument regarding a jury that agrees to follow the law 

as set out by the district court, sometimes known as a “death qualified” jury.  Nevada 

law does not preclude limiting juries to those who will agree to follow the law.  

McConnell v. State, 125 Nev. 243, 256, 212 P.3d 307, 316 (2009), as corrected (July 24, 

2009) 

Ground Three of the supplement asserts that the sentence amounts to cruel and 

unusual punishment.  That was considered and rejected in the last appeal and this court 

lacks the authority to overrule the State Supreme Court.   

 Ground Four repeats the argument concerning the order of the closing 

arguments.  That was considered and rejected on direct appeal.  The court might also 

note that any claim of prejudice would be based on the notion that the jury decided 

based on arguments instead of based on evidence.  That is too speculative to warrant 

consideration.  Strickland, supra.  466 U.S. at 694-95 (assessment of prejudice must 

exclude the possibility of arbitrariness, whimsy, caprice, nullification and the like.  The 

analysis of prejudice must proceed on the assumption of a lawful decision-maker, 

conscientiously applying the correct standards).   

 Ground Five repeats earlier arguments but also asserts error in the instruction 

that the jury should do equal and exact justice to the parties.  Why the defendant does 

0987



 

4 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

 

 

 

not wish to seek justice is not altogether clear.  If the contention is meant to be a claim 

of error, it is barred by NRS 34.810.  It if is meant to be a claim of ineffective assistance 

of appellate counsel, it is insufficient for failure to describe anything about the thought 

processes of appellate counsel.  There is also a lack of prejudice.  The instructions as a 

whole showed that the jury was adequately informed that they could consider mercy and 

anything else that they wished to consider.  Given that wide discretion, and the fact that 

the jury did not return the most severe penalty, the notion of prejudice is too speculative 

to warrant consideration.   

 Ground Six merely asserts cumulative error.  There is no error to cumulate.  

Accordingly, the entire petition and supplement should be dismissed. 

AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030 

 The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding document does not 

contain the social security number of any person. 

  DATED: March 19, 2018.        
       CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS 

District Attorney 
 
       By /s/ TERRENCE P. McCARTHY  
                        TERRENCE P. McCARTHY 
             Chief Appellate Deputy 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that this document was filed electronically with the Second Judicial 

District Court on March 19, 2018.  Electronic Service of the foregoing document shall be 

made in accordance with the Master Service List as follows: 

  Carolyn Tanner, Esq. 

 

                                       /s/ Margaret Ford  
                                MARGARET FORD 
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Code:  4100 
 
Carolyn “Lina” Tanner, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 5520 
TANNER LAW & STRATEGY GROUP, LTD. 
216 E. Liberty Street 
Reno, Nevada 89501 
Tel.  775.323.4657 
E-mail: lina@tanner1nv.com 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF NEVADA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 
 
 
 

SHAWN RUSSELL HARTE, 
 
                           Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
STATE OF NEVADA, 
 
                          Respondent. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CASE NO.   CR98-0074A 
 
DEPT. NO.   4 
 
 

 
OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISMISS  

 
PETITION AND SUPPLEMENTAL PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS 

(POST-CONVICTION) 

 
COMES NOW, Petitioner, SHAWN RUSSELL HARTE, by and through appointed counsel, 

CAROLYN “LINA” TANNER, Esq., and files this Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Petition and 

Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction).   

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

 The State seeks to dismiss the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and Supplemental Petition on 

file herein which address illegalities that occurred during the remanded penalty phase trial of Mr. Harte 

some sixteen years after his initial conviction of guilt and sentence of death.  Mr. Harte must raise all 
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possible claims in this proceeding in order to preserve them for federal review.   

I.   Ground One:  The State’s motion asks that Ground One be dismissed because the  

failure of trial counsel to adequately prepare a witness is “subjective” and not within an “objective” 

standard of reasonableness.  Were that a true assertion, all claims for ineffective assistance of counsel 

would fail.  An attorney’s actions related to witnesses, both in preparation and in trial, are subject to 

scrutiny under an objective standard of reasonableness.  See e.g. Brown v. State, 110 Nev. 846 (1994) 

(court found ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to cross examine witness properly); Davis v. 

State, 107 Nev. 600, 817 P.2d 1169 (1991), overruled on other grounds by Means v. State, 120 Nev. 

1001, 103 P.3d 25, (2004) (Court considered issue of preparation of witness under Strickland standard.  

As noted in the Supplemental Petition, Dr. Melissa Piasecki, M.D., a forensic psychiatrist, testified on 

behalf of Mr. Harte at the penalty hearing. From the transcript, it is clear that Dr. Piasecki had not 

reviewed and had limited knowledge of the evidence of a prior bad act felony shooting that occurred in 

Fallon, Nevada prior to Mr. Harte’s arrest on the charges in this case.  Had trial counsel prepared Dr. 

Piasecki fully by providing all relevant information for her review, so that she could competently testify 

as to this event and Mr. Harte’s reactions to it, it is reasonably probably that Mr. Harte would have 

received a sentence less than life without the possibility of parole. 

II.  Ground Two:  

 The State asks that Ground Two be dismissed because it is barred by the doctrine of law of the 

case.  While this argument is understandable, the doctrine of law of the case is not so black and white.  

In the appeal of the penalty phase proceeding, Mr. Harte’s counsel argued that the Court should issue 

“an overarching rule that evidence of codefendants’’ sentences is never admissible in a penalty 

hearing.”   132 Nev. Adv. Op. 40 (2016) at 3.  This is not the argument set forth in the Petition or 

Supplemental Petition.   

In the appeal, the Court declined to issue such a rule, “because each case has unique facts and 
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circumstances.”  Id. at 5. And yet, nowhere in the decision does the Court actually address the unique 

facts and circumstances surrounding the district court’s decision to admit evidence of the codefendants’ 

sentences handed down sixteen years earlier.  Rather, the Court discussed only the issue of the 

discretion allowed to the district court pursuant to Nunnery v. State, 127 Nev. 749, 263 P.3d 235 (2011) 

and Lisle v. State, 113 Nev. 540, 937 P.2d 473 (1997). The Court discussed how this includes the 

evidence of codefendant sentences at the penalty phase, relying on Flanagan v. State, 107 Nev. 243, 

810 P.2d 759 (1991)   The Court noted the limitations of judicial discretion that requires the exclusion 

of otherwise relevant evidence if is “impalpable, highly suspect, dubious, or tenuous.”  Parker v. State, 

109 Nev. 383, 390, 849 P.2d 1062, 1067 (1993).  Without addressing the unique facts and 

circumstances of the Mr. Harte’s second penalty phase proceeding, namely that it occurred sixteen 

years after the death penalty proceeding that was conducted jointly over Mr. Harte and his codefendants 

by a death penalty qualified panel, the Court simply declined to issue a blanket rule that the 

introduction or exclusion of codefendant sentences are not within a district court’s discretion.  

Accordingly, the unique facts and circumstances surrounding the inclusion of this impalpable, dubious, 

and tenuous evidence has yet to be addressed by the appellate court.   

Moreover, the Supplemental Petition asks the district court, and ultimately the appellate court, 

to harmonize the decision made in this case with that made contemporaneously with Rodriguez v. State 

2015 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1056 (Docket No. 63423, September 11, 2015).  As noted in the 

Supplemental Petition, in an unpublished opinion of his appeal, the Court, in a four to three decision 

affirming the district court, stated, “We recognize, as Rodriguez points out, that some jurisdictions 

consider a codefendant’s sentence relevant to a jury’s sentencing decision… However, there is no 

mandatory authority requiring the admission of such evidence, and we have reiterated the importance 

of individualized sentencing that takes into account a defendant’s character, record, and the 

circumstances of the offense.”  2015 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1056 at 4 (Docket No. 63423, September 11, 
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2015) (emphasis added).  Of interest in the appeal of Mr. Harte’s penalty phase trial, the Court states 

much the opposite in dicta.  Almost as an aside, at the end of the decision, the Court states, “Finally, 

Harte’s argument that he is a changed man is out of place in the is proceeding.  He was appropriately 

sentenced based upon the crime he committed.”  Harte at 8.  Neither party argued in their briefs that 

Mr. Harte’s history since the crime was irrelevant, but the Court in dicta implied that it was in fact 

irrelevant.   This may explain why the Court never discussed these facts to determine whether the 

evidence of codefendant sentences handed down sixteen years earlier without any consideration of how 

they each had programmed in prison as well was in fact impalpable, dubious, or tenuous.  This cannot 

be harmonized with the Rodriquez opinion, which upheld the district court’s exclusion of codefendant 

sentences as irrelevant, because of the “importance of individualized sentencing that takes into account 

a defendant’s character, record, and circumstances of the offense.”  At this point, the only explanation 

of these two vastly different opinions is that the use or nonuse of codefendant sentences is a tool solely 

for the benefit of the prosecution.   

This court may examine these issues today, for dicta is not subject to exclusion under the 

doctrine of law of the case.    Ferguson v. Las Vegas Metro Police Dep’t., 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 94 at 10, 

364 P.3d 592, 597 (2015).   This court may examine the sufficiency of the jury instruction that allowed 

the jury to consider this tenuous evidence but failed to advise the jury of the limited relevance given the 

length of time between the sentencing of the codefendants and Mr. Harte, and the lack of any 

information of the codefendants in the sixteen years between these dates.   

Mr. Harte’s sentence is invalid under the federal constitutional guarantees of due process, equal 

protection of the laws, and a reliable, individualized sentence because of the district court’s allowance 

of evidence of the codefendants’ sentences imposed sixteen years prior to his penalty phase trial, and 

the appellate court’s affirmance of this decision.  U.S. Const. V, VI, VIII, & XIV.  “The Eighth 

Amendment requires that defendants be sentenced individually, taking into account the individual, as 
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well as the charged crime.”  Martinez v. State, 114 Nev. 735, 737, 961 P.2d 143, 145.  It appears from 

the decision of Mr. Harte’s penalty phase appeal, that this idea stated as dicta may have infected the 

decision on whether to issue a blanket rule to disallow codefendant sentences at penalty phase hearings, 

and the result was that Mr. Harte’s right to an individualized sentence was violated.  Ground Two 

should not be dismissed.   

III. Ground Three:   

The State seeks the dismissal of Ground Three for the same reason as Ground Two.  For the same  

reasons set forth above, dismissal of Ground Three is inappropriate.  Mr. Harte’s sentence of life 

without the possibility of parole is invalid under the federal constitutional guarantees of due process, 

equal protection, and a reliable sentence because it constitutes cruel and unusual punishment.  U.S. 

Const. VIII & XIV.  The Eighth Amendment guarantees against cruel and unusual punishment and 

prohibits punishment which is inconsistent with the evolving standards of decency that mark the 

progress of a maturing society.  The sentence at issue is not the sentence of death that Mr. Harte 

received in 1999 when he was a very young man, but rather the sentence of life without the possibility 

of parole he received sixteen years later, as an evolved, well mannered prisoner whose personal 

experiences were vastly improved.  

 Despite the clear language of Naovarath v. State, 105 Nev. 525, 779 P.2d 944 (1989) to the 

contrary, the Court held that the general language that “… all but the deadliest and most unsalvageable 

of prisoners [shall] have the right to appear before the board of parole to try and show that they have 

behaved well in prison confines and that their moral and spiritual betterment merits consideration of 

some adjustment of their sentences…” was not applicable to Mr. Harte.  Rather, as noted above, the 

Court indicated in dicta that any change of character of Mr. Harte in the sixteen years he had been in 

prison was in fact irrelevant.  Harte at 8.  As noted in the Supplemental Petition, this finding is 

offensive under the Eighth Amendment in the contexts of cruel and unusual punishment as well as to a 
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defendant’s right to individualized sentencing.  As noted above, dicta is not subject to preclusion under 

the law of the case doctrine.  Couple this dicta with the fact that the appellate court gave no mention in 

the decision to the incomplete picture presented by the inclusion of the codefendants’ sentences without 

a comprehensive jury instruction that put those sentences in context, these issues are not barred by the 

law of the case.  And these issues led to a to a resulting sentence that is cruel and unusual under the 

Eighth Amendment.  

IV. Ground Five:    

Ground Five is an example of the impact of cumulative error.  The district court instructed the 

jury on their duty to be governed by the evidence and law as instructed “with the sole, fixed and 

steadfast purpose of doing equal and exact justice between the defendant and the State of Nevada.”  

Instruction 19, February 2, 2015 (emphasis added).  The language of this instruction compounded the 

constitutional errors associated with the evidence of the codefendants’ sentences presented to the jury.  

As set forth above, the failure to instruct the jury adequately regarding the highly prejudicial 

evidence of the codefendants’ sentences is prejudicial to Mr. Harte.  The State cannot show that the 

failure to instruct the jury adequately was harmless, and that failure had a substantial and injurious 

effect on the verdict.  Instruction 15 failed to instruct the jury that they had no obligation to sentence 

Mr. Harte to an equivalent sentence, nor does it instruct them that they are to consider Mr. Harte’s 

character, record, and circumstances of the offense.  Instruction 19 compounded the error of failing to 

instruct the jury properly about the evidence of the codefendants’ sentences.  A rational juror would 

have understood the language of imposing “equal and exact justice” under the circumstances of this 

case, coupled with the highly prejudicial evidence of the codefendants’ sentences, as directing a verdict 

of life without the possibility of parole, just as the codefendants received from a death qualified jury 

sixteen years prior.   
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V. As to all claims:  

 Mr. Harte’s must raise all possible claims in his petition, even if such claims have been raised on  

direct appeal, in order to preserve them for federal review.  If this Court finds that Mr. Harte is entitled 

to a hearing on some or all of his claims, then his claim for cumulative error must not be dismissed.  

sentence is invalid under the federal constitution guarantees  

WHEREFORE, Shawn Russell Harte prays that the Court deny the State’s Motion to Dismiss  

Petition and Supplemental Petition and set this matter for hearing.  

AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030 

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding document does not contain the Social 

Security Number of any person. 
 

DATED this 13th day of April, 2018.                                                                       

       By: /s/ Carolyn Tanner    
       CAROLYN “LlNA” TANNER, ESQ. 
       Attorney for Petitioner Alberto Torres 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
I hereby certify that I am an employee of the Tanner Law & Strategy Group, Reno, Washoe 

County, Nevada, and that on this date I forwarded a true copy of the foregoing document addressed to:  

 
Terrance McCarthy, CDA (via e-flex) 
Washoe County District Attorney’s Office 
 
Shawn Russell Harte 
Northern Nevada Correctional Facility (via hand-delivery) 
 
 
DATED this 13th day of April, 2018.  
 
 

By: /s/ Carolyn Tanner    
       CAROLYN “LlNA” TANNER, ESQ. 
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JUDITH ANN SCHONLAU 

CCR #18

75 COURT STREET

RENO, NEVADA

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

BEFORE THE HONORABLE CONNIE J. STEINHEIMER, DISTRICT JUDGE

-o0o-

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

vs.

SHAWN HARTE,

Defendant.
                                 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

CASE NO. CR98-0074A 
DEPARTMENT NO. 4 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

MOTION TO DISMISS PETITION AND SUPPLEMENTAL PETITION 

THURSDAY, JUNE 21, 2018, 3:00 P.M. 

Reno, Nevada

Reported By:   JUDITH ANN SCHONLAU, CCR #18
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BY:  JOSEPH PLATER, ESQ. 

DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY
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FOR THE DEFENDANT: CAROLYN TANNER, ESQ.

ATTORNEY AT LAW
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RENO, NEVADA; THURSDAY, JUNE 21, 2018; 3:00 P.M. 

-oOo-

THE COURT: Please be seated. Good afternoon.  

MS. TANNER:  Good afternoon. 

THE COURT:  The record should reflect Mr. Harte did 

waive his appearance and he's not present.  Counsel is present 

for Mr. Harte and the State.  This is the State's Motion to 

Dismiss the Petition and Supplemental Petition.  You may 

proceed with your argument.  

MR. PLATER: Thank you, Judge. I have a little bit of 

allergy.  A little bit of fatigue from something going on. 

THE COURT:  Yes, I understand allergies.  They are 

horrible. 

MR. PLATER:  In any event, you know Mr. Harte.  The 

case started some years ago.  He was charged with capital 

murder.  A jury convicted him of murder with a deadly weapon, 

robbery with a deadly weapon and sentenced him to death.  That 

conviction and sentence was initially upheld by the Nevada 

Supreme Court, then, of course, the McConnell decision came 

down and changed everything for Mr. Harte because, as you 

know, with Mr. McConnell, the Court held you can't use the 

same felony for the felony murder charge and as a capital 

aggravator, so you granted him Habeas relief.  That was upheld 
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by the Nevada Supreme Court, and he returned here for a 

sentencing penalty hearing.  The second jury imposed life 

without the possibility of parole, and then on direct appeal, 

he raised three arguments.  He said this Court erred by 

allowing the State to argue first and last during the penalty 

hearing.  

The Court should not have allowed evidence of the 

co-defendant's sentence in their case to be submitted to the 

jury.

And his sentence was excessive, although the Supreme 

Court reviewed it more as cruel and unusual punishment.  In 

any event, all three of those arguments were rejected by the 

Nevada Supreme Court.  The Court held the District Court has 

discretion in admitting evidence of the co-defendants' 

sentence in a first degree murder sentencing, and it declined 

to adopt Mr. Harte's argument that a court should be 

completely prohibited from ever introducing that type of 

evidence.  The Court said the Court has the discretion, it 

just depends on the facts and circumstances of each case.  

We'll let the District Court have its discretion.  So you 

properly exercised your discretion, and the Supreme Court said 

that the evidence was properly admitted under the 

discretionary standard. 

The Court held his argument allowing the State to 

1001



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

5

argue twice lacked merit as well as his argument that his 

sentence was excessive lacked merit.  

So after that, he filed a timely Habeas Petition, 

his first one believe it or not.  Because of all the years 

gone by, Mr. McCarthy filed a Motion to Dismiss. In 

Mr. McCarthy's Motion, he addresses the original Petition 

first and lists I see there are four claims in the original 

Petition.  Our argument is that Grounds Two, Three and Four 

are barred by the law of the case, because they essentially 

raise the same issues that McConnell raised in the appeal of 

his second penalty hearing. 

THE COURT:  You mean Mr. Harte.  

MR. PLATER: Yeah, Mr. Harte. McConnell is the one 

they gave.  Because Ground Two of the original Petition his 

assertion is the Court erred in allowing the sentence of the 

co-defendant. 

Ground Three, the sentence was excessive. 

Ground Four, which the parties argued was well 

addressed by the Court. The law of the case doctrine tells us 

when an appellate court makes a ruling on an issue regarding 

the same or substantial facts that are presented in some other 

etherial tribunal, the appellate court's ruling controls.  And 

if you want to go back later and do a more precisely focused 

argument, the law of the doctrine still applies. So we think 
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here the doctrine prohibits, the doctrine of the law prohibits 

Grounds Two, Three, and Four of the original Petition.  

Ground One is a claim that Harte's lawyer did not 

adequately prepare Dr. Piasecki. Our problem with that claim 

is that again, and, you know, a lot of traditional argument, 

it doesn't meet the Hargrove standard.  It doesn't tell us 

what the lawyer should have done to prepare Dr. Piasecki such 

if he had done that additional preparation, she would have 

testified in such a way the result of the proceeding would 

have been different. We have to know what those facts are to 

determine whether he should get a hearing.  

Now in the Supplement on this first ground, Harte 

gives a little more information about Dr. Piasecki.  What 

counsel should have done, according to him, is prepared her 

about evidence of a prior bad act felony shooting in Fallon 

before his arrest in this case. Doctor Piesecki should have 

known about the prior bad act.  Apparently, she was 

cross-examined on it. She didn't know about it. During her 

testimony at the penalty hearing, she didn't know about it. I 

didn't personally review that.  I am assuming it is true.  

Here's the problem:  From that factual assertion, Harte then 

concludes in the next paragraph had she known about that, it 

is reasonable to conclude Harte would have received a sentence 

less than life without.  To me that is a non sequitur. There 
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is something missing in between telling Dr. Piasecki that and 

coming to the conclusion the jury would have come to a 

different conclusion. There is no causal connection showing 

how that is the case if she had known about that.  We can't 

conclude automatically the jury would have given a different 

decision.  We don't know what she would have testified about.  

We don't know if that would have changed her testimony.  We 

don't know if she could have given a different diagnosis, 

different opinion about Mr. Harte such that now maybe the jury 

would have considered her testimony in a different light or 

considered all the other testimony in a different light.  

So going on to the Supplemental Petition, Ground One 

is the same as in the original Petition. 

Ground Two is the claim, that is the same claim as 

the second ground in the original Petition. Shouldn't have 

allowed the co-defendants' sentence before the jury.  

Then the other part of the second claim in the 

Supplemental Petition, it goes over the appellate decision 

regarding what we have been talking about, whether the 

sentence should have been admitted in front of the jury. 

If I'm reading that, Ground Three of the 

Supplemental Petition is his sentence is cruel and unusual 

punishment.  The Nevada Supreme Court has already addressed 

that issue. 
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Ground Four is the same as Ground Four in the 

original Petition.  I may have the numbers wrong.  It is the 

same argument, the State shouldn't be allowed to argue first 

and last.  The Nevada Supreme Court addressed that. 

Ground Five is the Court erred in instructing the 

jury they should do equal and exact justice. We believe that 

instruction is proper under McConnell, and we think it doesn't 

show any prejudice.  There is no indication the jury would 

have come back with a different verdict or a different 

sentence.  

Ground Six is cumulative error.  We don't think 

there is error in the first instance.  That is basically our 

position. 

I don't know if you have any questions. 

THE COURT:  No, I have no questions. 

MR. PLATER:  Pretty straightforward. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. Ms. Tanner. 

MS. TANNER:  Good afternoon. Carolyn Tanner on 

behalf of Mr. Harte.  Happy first day of Summer to everybody.  

Glad to be back here.  It has been a while.  Obviously, we 

have presented our Opposition in writing.  I will highlight 

that here.  I want to say at the outset as his Habeas counsel, 

it is both a blessing and a curse to see that his counsel at 

the sentencing penalty phase actually for the most part did a 
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really good job.  So we have to look at things around that 

circle.  So the Supplemental Petition, I won't go through the 

counts Mr. Plater just did, it incorporates the original 

Petition, expands on the claims that really weren't expanded 

on at all in the original Petition filed by Mr. Harte and adds 

Claims Five and Six. 

So with Claim One, the Opposition states the Court 

can't consider whether an attorney adequately prepared a 

witness, because that is subjective. As I argued in my written 

Opposition, that actually would follow an ineffective counsel 

claim, because what an attorney does is subjective.  The issue 

is that subjective behavior is filtered through the standard 

of what is an objective standard of reasonableness. The Nevada 

Supreme Court has looked at the behavior of counsel in many 

different ways despite the fact that behavior is to be 

construed as subjective.  So for instance, in the Brown case I 

cited in my Opposition, the Court found ineffective assistance 

of counsel for failure to cross-examine a victim in a sexual 

assault case and failure to seek concurrent sentencing. In the 

Davis case they talk about exactly what we are talking about.  

Although the Court didn't find ineffective assistance of 

counsel in that case, they did assess counsel's ability to 

adequately prepare a witness through that lens. It was not 

excluded as subjective. 
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As to Claim Two, I think probably the most important 

claim before the Court today, the law of the case doctrine we 

would argue does not apply in this case. It is a different 

argument. I acknowledge it is related, but it is not a 

distinction without a difference.  It is very clear in the 

Order of the Supreme Court what was asked for.  It is also 

clear in the appellate opening brief what was asked for was a 

blanket rule that no court could ever consider the evidence of 

a co-defendant's sentence at sentencing or provide that to, in 

this case, the jury in a sentencing proceeding.  That is not 

the argument that we were making here.  That is not the 

argument addressed by the Court.  It tangentially did it in 

dicta but didn't address it.  The ruling was we are not going 

to go that way.  It is the Court's discretion to discuss this 

information. The supplemental brief asked this Court to look 

at the unique circumstances of Mr. Harte in this case and 

address those facts accordingly.  That didn't happen on appeal 

because they only sought that blanket ruling taking discretion 

away from the Court.  The focus of the appeal was on that 

fact, and that the Court should have discretion, not on the 

unique facts and circumstances of the actual sentencing.  And 

the supplemental brief also asked this Court to look at what 

was going on at the same time and harmonize the two decisions 

that came out of this Court and out of Department 6 in the 
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Rodriguez case.  In Harte, the Court, the Supreme Court in 

dicta stated Mr. Harte's history or who he was at the time of 

sentencing was irrelevant to this proceeding.  It was the 

circumstances of the crime that mattered. Neither party made 

this argument in appeal, that the circumstances, everything he 

did in the sixteen years in prison mattered. Nobody made that 

argument.  The Court said that in dicta at the end of the 

Opinion.  In Rodriguez, the Court held the opposite in an 

unpublished Opinion.  The defendants have to show the lesser 

sentence of co-defendants when he was facing the death penalty 

was irrelevant. Because what was actually important is the 

individualized sentencing that takes into account the 

defendant's character, record and the circumstances of the 

offense, the whole nine yards. With Mr. Harte's appeal this 

issue was also divided.  In Mr. Harte's appeal, it was a 

three-judge panel with Judge Gibbons dissenting on this 

particular issue that the co-defendant's sentence should not 

be allowed at a penalty phase trial. In the Rodriguez case 

which again is unreported, it was even a four to three 

decision that that information should have been allowed in 

because it was mitigating.  The Court can examine, because 

dicta is not subject to the exclusion under the law of the 

case, I cite Ferguson versus Las Vegas Metro Police 

Department.
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In my brief as to Claim Three in the supplemental 

brief, it is more related to this issue than it was in the 

underlying appeal as to the issue of cruel and unusual 

punishment.  The dicta that Mr. Harte's history was irrelevant 

affected the proceeding, there was no rule how to put the 

co-defendants' sentence, they received 16 years previously, in 

context with the person that sat before that jury, Mr. Harte, 

in judgment that day. 

As to Claim Four, the first and last argument, I 

will go ahead and submit that, Your Honor. 

As to Claim 5, this is an example of cumulative 

error.  

Claim Six addresses cumulative error in general.  

The argument there is that in examining the overly simple 

Instruction 15 that said you can consider these sentences, but 

you have the ability to impose any sentence that you feel is 

relevant in the range provided. When you combine that with the 

co-defendants' sentence being presented and Instruction 19 

which gives the equal language, the argument is that is 

confusing to the jury at that time. 

The Motion to Dismiss states that there is no 

prejudice to Mr. Harte because the jury did not return the 

more severe penalty, and that is not the case.  They in fact 

did return the most severe penalty available to them that day 
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which was life without. 

One comment as to the first claim, sorry to take 

that out of order, as far as what the doctor would present or 

how it would have been different, Your Honor, I would argue, 

if I didn't do it entirely clear, I would ask for leave to 

supplement it, is that Dr. Piasecki, she was there to present 

a picture of what Shawn Harte was at that point in time in his 

life and how he was different sixteen years later before the 

penalty phase. So the fact that she was unaware of this prior, 

that was actually instrumental in how the police actually 

found Mr. Harte, and she wasn't able to answer on 

cross-examination how does that fit into your diagnosis, that 

is where there would have been a different result, because she 

could have analyzed that as if it did not fit.  Presumably she 

would come up with that, yes, that was part and parcel of the 

same kind of behavior that brought him to the Court in the 

first place at age 21 I believe he was when the time these 

crimes were committed or 20, and how that has been included in 

that same pattern of behavior or his changed pattern of 

behavior over the last sixteen years.  With that, I would 

submit it. 

THE COURT:  The argument in Claim Five which is that 

Instruction 15 should not have been given, was that raised in 

the appeal?  
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MS. TANNER:  No. 

THE COURT:  Wouldn't it normally have to be raised 

in the appeal?  It is not really a Writ issue. 

MS. TANNER:  I think if it were construed today as 

it was ineffective assistance of counsel to fail to make that 

argument, that is how I would ask that it be construed. 

THE COURT:  Okay. Mr. Plater, that is a little 

different perhaps than the way you were looking at it. 

MR. PLATER:  Right, because as you know, Judge, 

there is no allegation that counsel was ineffective under 

Claim Five for failing to present these arguments about the 

Jury Instructions. So, absent an allegation of ineffective 

assistance of counsel, the claim is barred under Chapter 34 

because it could have been raised on direct appeal.  That 

would be our first argument.  

Second, I think these Instructions are fine.  There 

may be a number of different Instructions that the jury has to 

consider in context with each other, but we know the case law 

is pretty clear that the juries are presumed to follow the 

law, presumed to understand the Instructions, so I don't see 

there is anything wrong with those Jury Instructions. 

As to the second claim that the co-defendant's 

sentence shouldn't have been introduced in front of the jury, 

I am not sure what the claim is. If the claim is the lawyer, 
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the trial lawyer's appeal, the lawyer was ineffective for not 

raising the argument the way it is now structured, we have got 

a problem, because Mr. Petty raised -- He framed the issue in 

terms of a District Court should never give this type of 

evidence to a jury, and the Nevada Supreme Court said the 

District Courts have discretion.  They could go either way, 

decide in their discretion according to the individual unique 

circumstances and facts of the case to give an Instruction or 

they can decline to give the Instruction.  That is the rule of 

law that should guide the District Court. So he raised the 

issue as an absolute rule.  They declined to follow it. If he 

would have raised it as a discretionary rule, then he loses as 

well.  He did lose, and there is no claim for Habeas because 

it had already been addressed by the Nevada Supreme Court.  So 

either way you go on ineffective assistance on the second 

claim, I don't see there is any claim that warrants a hearing.  

If the claim is simply the District Court, you, were in error 

to present this type of information, then again I think it is 

barred by the law of the case.  Or if it should have been 

presented like that, it could have -- the way it is presented 

now in the Habeas Petition, that could have been presented on 

direct appeal and it is barred if it is not pleaded as an 

ineffective assistance claim.  It is barred under Chapter 

34.810. 
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THE COURT:  I know that you are not as familiar with 

the trial as I was.  

MR. PLATER: Sure. 

THE COURT:  My memory is that the Court did weigh 

the specific circumstances of Mr. Harte and his co-defendants. 

I actually followed the discretionary rule that the Supreme 

Court said was the right way to go, make a decision based on 

the individual defendant. I think that is in the record of why 

I allowed that testimony. 

MR. PLATER:  And the Nevada Supreme Court said, in 

their decision, we decline to issue such a ruling meaning a 

strict rule you should never allow that type of evidence, 

because each case has unique facts and circumstances. 

THE COURT:  So I think in my record of the trial 

when it was being debated whether or not this would come in, I 

reviewed the case law around the country and decided we did 

have discretion on an individual basis and made my ruling. So 

what I am hearing Ms. Tanner's argument is that the Supreme 

Court, she's arguing the Supreme Court didn't rule on whether 

or not my decision was right.  They just ruled that I could 

make a decision.  That is what I hear her argument is, right?  

MS. TANNER:  Yes.  

MR. PLATER: And I think implicitly they are ruling 

you exercised your discretion properly.  Why would they have 
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adopted such a rule and overlook the fact whether you abused 

your discretion or not?  And, again, I think the law of the 

case doctrine applies to more precisely focused arguments so 

you can try to change the argument now in a more precise 

manner.  But that rule is certainly encompassed by what the 

Nevada Supreme Court did, so it is barred. 

THE COURT:  I agree, especially in light of the 

record that was available to the Supreme Court when they made 

the decision, and the record that I made during the course of 

the trial. So with regard to Grounds Two, Three, Four, and 

Five, I think the Motion to Dismiss should be granted. 

I am concerned about Ground One, dismissing it 

without a hearing.  I understand that it is a bit vague.  I 

would have preferred to know exactly what the evidence would 

have been had she known about it in advance. I don't have 

that.  So I am going to deny the Motion to Dismiss as to 

Ground One. Ground One can go to hearing.  That is ineffective 

assistance of counsel for supposedly not preparing 

Dr. Piasecki, and maybe they did.  I don't know what the 

circumstances were, so I rule that one claim will go to 

hearing. 

MR. PLATER:  Would you consider, Your Honor, 

ordering Mr. Harte to supplement the first claim and tell us 

exactly what she's going to testify to?  
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THE COURT:  Yes. 

MR. PLATER:  As it stands now, I don't know whether, 

given that information, she would have said something in favor 

or against her client.  We need to know what it is.

THE COURT:  I was going to add that. 

MR. PLATER:  Sorry.  

THE COURT: I will allow Mr. Harte and order 

Mr. Harte to supplement the Petition as to Ground One and tell 

us in the Petition, Supplemental Petition, exactly what the 

evidence would have been different had the preparation taken 

place.  That would require you to give us information with 

regard to Dr. Piasecki's new position, if it in fact did 

change.  That would normally be done through argument, perhaps 

even Affidavit. 

MS. TANNER:  Do you have a deadline for that to be 

filed?  

THE COURT:  Forty-five days, and then you all, after 

that is filed, then you can set it for hearing on the 

ineffective assistance claim.  

MS. TANNER: I am presuming, Your Honor, the Claim 

Six on just the plain cumulative will be dismissed. 

THE COURT:  Right.  It won't be cumulative.  It may 

be error as to Ground One, but I can't find it was cumulative. 

MS. TANNER:  Thank you. 
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THE COURT:  Is there anything further for the today?  

MR. PLATER:no thank you, Judge. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Court's in recess. 

(Whereupon, the proceedings were concluded.)

-o0o- 
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STATE OF NEVADA, )

)  ss.

COUNTY OF WASHOE. )

I, Judith Ann Schonlau, Official Reporter of the 

Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, in and 

for the County of Washoe, DO HEREBY CERTIFY:

That as such reporter I was present in Department 

No. Four of the above-entitled court on Thursday, June 21, 

2018 at the hour of 3:00 p.m. of said day and that I then and 

there took verbatim stenotype notes of the proceedings had in 

the matter of THE STATE OF NEVADA vs. SHAWN HARTE, Case Number 

CR98-0074A.

That the foregoing transcript, consisting of pages 

numbered 1-20 inclusive, is a full, true and correct 

transcription of my said stenotypy notes, so taken as 

aforesaid, and is a full, true and correct statement of the 

proceedings had and testimony given upon the trial of the 

above-entitled action to the best of my knowledge, skill and 

ability.

DATED:  At Reno, Nevada this 9th day of May, 2019.

/s/ Judith Ann Schonlau    
JUDITH ANN SCHONLAU CSR #18
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